FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/18/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/17/2024 4:40 PM

No. _____

Case #: 1029811

Court of Appeals No. 85665-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE, Respondent,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD, Respondent,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, Respondent,

and

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY, THE NORTHWEST SEAPORT ALLIANCE, PORT OF SEATTLE, PORT OF TACOMA, PACIFIC MERCHANT SHIPPING ASSOCIATION, and SSA TERMINALS, LLC, Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves issues of public significance impacting industrial and municipal facilities throughout Washington. The case arises from the **2020** Industrial Stormwater General Permit (ISGP), a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) general permit issued by the Washington Department of Ecology pursuant to the Clean Water Act (CWA) and the Washington Water Pollution Control Act (WPCA). The permit applies to approximately 1,200 industrial facilities across the state, nearly half of which are transportation facilities. Those transportation facilities include the Petitioners, who own or operate marine, intermodal, and rail facilities essential to the movement of goods and passengers throughout Washington and internationally.

Here, the Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB) granted summary judgment to the Petitioners, correctly holding that the ISGP's plain language does not expand coverage requirements at transportation facilities beyond the "industrial

activities" specified in EPA regulations – i.e. the permit does not cover areas where no industrial activity takes place. The PCHB's interpretation of the permit's scope was identical to that rendered by a federal court in a recent CWA enforcement action. See Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. APM Terminals Tacoma, LLC, No. C-17-05016 BHS, 2020 WL 6445825, at *9-10 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 3, 2020) (not reported) (APM Terminals). But the Court of Appeals reversed, interpreting the ISGP to cover the *entire* footprint of a transportation facility, regardless of where industrial activities take place. In doing so, the court effectively read multiple citations to EPA's regulation out of the permit, in conflict with state court decisions requiring that the permit be interpreted as a whole.

The court's decision impacts not only ISGP transportation facilities, because the ISGP is one of 15 general permits issued and administered by Ecology. *All* entities operating pursuant to Ecology-issued general permits. including construction facilities, WSDOT, Sound Transit, counties and municipalities, ports, fruit packing, animal feeding operations, and boatyards, will be impacted by the court's decision. In an issue of first impression in Washington courts, the court acted contrary to federal case law, holding that general permits should be interpreted as regulations subject to deference, rather than as contracts. Under the court's decision, interpretation of ambiguous language in *any* general permit will require that a court give deference to Ecology's after-the-fact subjective statements of intent. General permit permittees can no longer rely on permit language to determine the permit's conditions.

In short, this case presents critical issues of public transparency, general permit interpretation, and science-based stewardship. The Court of Appeals decision meets the RAP 13.4 criteria for review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are ISGP Permittees The Northwest Seaport Alliance, Port of Seattle, Port of Tacoma, BNSF Railway Company, SSA Terminals, LLC, and Pacific Merchant Shipping Association (collectively, Permittees).

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Permittees seek review of the Court of Appeals, Division I published decision, dated March 18, 2024, and attached as Appendix A reversing the PCHB's order granting summary judgment on Legal Issue 11.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Where a court finds the language of an Ecology-issued NPDES general permit ambiguous, should the permit be interpreted like a contract, consistent with the routine practice of federal courts and the PCHB, or like a regulation, with deference given to Ecology's subjective statements of the permit's intent?
- Does the plain language of the ISGP, with its multiple references to the definition of industrial activity in 40
 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi), limit the scope of coverage at Permittees' transportation facilities to the industrial activities identified in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii)?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The CWA and NPDES Permit Program.

The CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1251-1388, prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source without an NPDES permit. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342(a). In 1973, the EPA delegated to Washington the responsibility for administering the NPDES permit program. RCW 90.48.260. Ecology also has state law authority to issue waste discharge permits under the WPCA, RCW Ch. 90.48.

Regulated entities may be required to operate under either an individual permit, specific to the permittee's discharges, or a general permit covering multiple dischargers in a designated category or geographic area. *See* 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.2, 122.28(a); WAC 173-220-020. The ISGP is a statewide NPDES general permit applying to approximately 1,200 industrial stormwater dischargers. CP 1036.¹ It is a state/federal permit issued under both the CWA and the WPCA. WAC 173-226-010; CP 731. NPDES permits must be reissued every five years. 40 C.F.R. § 122.46(a). The ISGP is one of 15 general permits issued by Ecology.

Individual and general permit issuance require a nearly identical public process. For each, Ecology must issue a draft permit with a "fact sheet" detailing the permit's provisions and any material changes, give public notice, hold a 30-day comment period, and respond to comments. *See* WAC 173-220-050, 060, 070 (individual); WAC 173-226-110, 130, 140, 170 (general). The process may include public hearings. WAC 173-220-090, 100 (individual); WAC 137-226-150 (general). The administrative appeal process for individual and general permits is also identical: each type of permit may be appealed to the

¹ The ISGP is at CP 58-130. Relevant pages are attached as Appendix B.

PCHB. See WAC 173-220-225 (individual); WAC 173-226-190 (general).

Penalties for permit noncompliance range from financial penalties to permit revocation. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(1)(C); 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.41(a), 122.64; RCW 90.48.144(3), 90.48.120. Federal permittees are also subject to CWA civil and criminal enforcement actions and third-party citizen suits seeking injunctive relief, attorney's fees, and civil penalties of up to \$66,712 per violation, per day. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319, 1365; 40 C.F.R. § 19.4.

B. <u>Permittee Transportation Facilities.</u>

The Northwest Seaport Alliance (NWSA) is the marine cargo operating partnership of the Port of Seattle and Port of Tacoma. Together, the two ports constitute one of the largest container gateways in North America. CP 499. Under RCW Ch. 53 Washington ports are charged with creating jobs and growing the economy. *See* CP 2117; RCW 53.04.010. Ports prepare economic development programs designed to foster trade, industrial development, critical infrastructure, imports/exports, tourism, local, state, and federal tax revenue, and entrepreneurial capacity. CP 2117. Ports advance this program by, in part, making long-term investments in critical infrastructure. Making major investments, such as reconstructing wharfs to treat stormwater, requires long-term planning and clear, foreseeable regulatory requirements. *Id.* Major changes in regulatory requirements challenges the ports' abilities to fulfill the legislature's intent.

BNSF Railway Company (BNSF) owns and operates rail yards and other rail facilities throughout Washington state, including 12 facilities covered by the ISGP. CP 2112.

SSA Terminals, LLC's subsidiaries operate four of the NWSA's marine cargo terminals. Pacific Merchant Shipping Association is an independent association representing owners and operators of marine terminals in Washington. Opinion at 11-12 n. 5.

C. <u>Under 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii) NPDES Permits</u> <u>Regulating Stormwater from Transportation Facilities</u> <u>Apply to Only Those Portions of Facilities Where</u> <u>Industrial Activity Takes Place.</u>

Recognizing the difficulties of regulating stormwater, Congress exempted from the NPDES program most pointsource discharges composed entirely of stormwater. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(1). Only certain stormwater discharges require an NPDES permit, including stormwater "associated with industrial activity." 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(2).

EPA defined the phrase "stormwater discharge associated with industrial activity" as stormwater "directly related to manufacturing, processing or raw materials storage areas at an industrial plant" and excluded areas that are separate from the "plant lands" used for industrial activities. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(4)(A); 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14).

EPA's rule then identifies the 11 categories of regulated industrial activities including exemptions and clarifications. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i–xi). Category eight is "transportation facilities" that have "vehicle maintenance shops, equipment

cleaning operations, or airport deicing operations." 40 C.F.R. §

122.26(b)(14)(viii). The rule limits permit coverage at

transportation facilities to only those portions where "industrial

activity" takes place:

Only those portions of the [transportation] facility that are either involved in vehicle maintenance (including vehicle rehabilitation, mechanical repairs, painting, fueling, and lubrication), equipment cleaning operations, airport deicing operations or otherwise identified under paragraphs (b)(14) (i)–(vii) or (ix)–(xi) of this section are associated with industrial activity.

Id. (emphasis added).

D. <u>The ISGP's Plain Language Limits Coverage of</u> <u>Transportation Facilities to Those Portions of Facilities</u> Identified in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii).

The ISGP begins with Special Condition S1 which

describes who must apply for the permit. The first sentence says

the ISGP applies to "industrial activities," a defined term. CP

66. ISGP Appendix 2 defines the term "industrial activity" as

"the 11 categories of industrial activities identified in 40 C.F.R.

§ 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi)" or "any *facility* conducting any activities

described in Table 1." CP 120. The "industrial activity" definition describes Table 1 as "the 11 categories of industrial activities identified in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi) in a different format.":

> *Industrial Activity* means (1) the 11 categories of industrial activities identified in 40 CFR 122.26(b)(14)(ixi) that must apply for either coverage under this permit or no exposure certification, (2) any facility conducting any activities described in <u>Table 1</u>, and (3) the activities occurring at any facility identified by Ecology as a significant contributor of pollutants. Table 1 lists the 11 categories of industrial activities identified in 40 CFR 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi) in a different format.

CP 120. The "industrial activity" definition thus twice

references the federal limiting regulation in 40 C.F.R. §

122.26(b)(14), which includes the language in

122.26(b)(14)(viii) specific to transportation facilities.

E. <u>Procedural Background.</u>

The Permittees and Puget Soundkeeper Alliance (PSA) appealed the 2020 ISGP to the PCHB in December 2019. The PCHB granted the Permittees' motion for summary judgment on Issue 11, finding that the ISGP was unambiguous and that its plain language does not expand coverage beyond those industrial activities specified in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii). CP 3849-50. The Board did not reach Issue 12, regarding whether the purported expansion of the ISGP's scope of coverage was unreasonable or unlawful due to its failure to comply with procedural requirements for NPDES permitting, concluding that its ruling in the Permittees' favor on Issue 11 rendered Issue 12 moot. *Id.* All permittees subsequently settled the remaining issues with Ecology, and the PCHB issued an order of dismissal. CP 29.

On PSA's appeal, the court reversed the PCHB. First, the court agreed with the PCHB that the ISGP is unambiguous but disagreed with the Board's interpretation of the permit's language. Second, the court held that if the ISGP was ambiguous, it should be interpreted like a regulation, with deference given to Ecology's subjective interpretation of the permit. Opinion at 23. The court remanded to the PCHB with instructions to grant summary judgment on Legal Issue 11 in

favor of Ecology and PSA and reach the merits of Legal Issue

12. Opinion at 26.

The Court of Appeals decision is a final decision terminating review as to Issue 11, and the Permittees seek review in this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Court of Appeals' Holding That General Permits</u> <u>Should Be Interpreted Like Regulations Presents an Issue</u> <u>of First Impression of Substantial Public Interest</u> <u>Impacting All Washington General Permit Permittees.</u>

In holding that an ambiguous general permit should be

interpreted like a regulation rather than a contract, the court misinterpreted federal case law and rendered a ruling that will have a substantial impact on the thousands of permittees operating statewide pursuant to Ecology-issued general permits.

The PCHB routinely interprets NPDES permits like contracts. *See Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. v. Puget Sound Clean Air Agency*, PCHB No. 19-014c, 2021 WL 4432571, at *15 (July 7, 2021); *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Dep't of Ecology*, PCHB No. 97-126, 1997 WL 804283, at *4 (Nov. 21, 1997). But the issue of whether a general permit should be interpreted like a contract or a regulation is a matter of first impression in Washington courts. This Court regularly accepts review of such significant issues of first impression and should do so here. *See, e.g., State v. Taylor*, 193 Wn.2d 691, 693, 444 P.3d 1194 (2019); *Tabingo v. American Triumph LLC*, 188 Wn.2d 41, 391 P.3d 434 (2017).

Federal courts interpret NPDES permits "like any other contract." *Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. Cnty. of Los Angeles ("L.A. County")*, 725 F.3d 1194, 1204 (9th Cir. 2013); *See also Nw. Envtl. Advocates v. City of Portland*, 56 F.3d 979, 982 (9th Cir. 1995). "If the language of the permit, considered in light of the structure of the permit as a whole, 'is plain and capable of legal construction, the language alone must determine the permit's meaning." L.A. County, 725 F.3d at 1204-05 (quoting *Piney Run Pres. Ass 'n v. City Comm 'rs of Carroll Cnty., Md.*, 268 F.3d 255, 270 (4th Cir. 2001)). Both the PCHB and a recent federal court decision, *APM Terminals*, relied upon *L.A. County* and interpreted the ISGP like a contract. In fact, before changing its position in the Court of Appeals, even PSA asserted that, as with all permits, "[t]he [ISGP] is interpreted like a contract." CP 2546 at 15:3-7. *See also* CP 3651-52.

The Court of Appeals ignored *L.A. County.* Rather than following the practice of the federal courts and the PCHB, the court created a distinction between interpretation of general permits and individual permits, implying that federal courts only interpret *individual* permits like contracts. Opinion at 16-18. The court is incorrect. *L.A. County* itself involved a general permit: a municipal separate storm sewer system permit covering the county, a flood control district, and 84 municipalities. *L.A. County*, 725 F.3d at 1196, 1199.

Moreover, California federal district courts routinely cite L.A. County and interpret the California NPDES General Industrial Stormwater Permit like a contract. See, e.g., San Diego Coastkeeper v. Pick-Your-Part Auto Wrecking, No. 22-CV-1693 TWR (DDL), 2023 WL 4879832, at *8 (S.D. Cal. July 31, 2023); *Friends of Outlet Creek v. Grist Creek Aggregates, LLC*, No. 16-cv-00431-JSW, 2018 WL 2573139, at *8 (N.D. Cal. April 23, 2018) (not reported); *Coastal Envtl. Rights Found. v. American Recycling Int'l Inc.*, No. 17-cv-00425-BAS-JMA, 2017 WL 6270395, at *8 (S.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2017) (not reported); *Wishtoyo Found. v. Magic Mountain LLC*, No. CV 12-05600 GAF-MANx, 2014 WL 12569364, at *3 (C.D. Cal. March 14, 2014) (not reported).

Rather than acknowledging *L.A. County*, the Court of Appeals relied entirely on *Alaska Community Action on Toxics v. Aurora Energy Serv*ices 765 F.3d 1169 (9th Cir. 2014), which involved interpretation of the Multi-Sector Industrial Stormwater Permit issued by EPA rather than a state-issued general permit such as the ISGP.² Although the case held that

² EPA administers the NPDES program in Alaska.

the EPA permit should be interpreted like a regulation, it contained no discussion of extrinsic evidence, agency intent, or agency deference. *Id.* at 1172-73. Nor did it suggest that general permits should be interpreted any differently from individual permits.

In fact, there is no substantive difference between the procedures used by Ecology to issue general and individual permits that would warrant analyzing general permits like regulations and individual permits like contracts. Although the Court of Appeals pointed to state rules providing for public process and administrative appeals for general permits (Opinion at 5, 17-18), it failed to acknowledge virtually equivalent regulations governing the issuance and appeal of individual permits. *See supra* at 6-7.³

³ The primary differences are that Ecology must issue a preliminary determination that it intends to issue a general permit (WAC 173-226-060) and prepare an economic impact analysis on draft general permits covering small businesses (WAC 173-226-120).

Nor is there support for the notion that Ecology's issuance of individual permits contains an element of negotiation lacking with general permits. For each type of permit, the permittees' ability to "negotiate" the permit's terms is largely limited to commenting on the draft permit. *See* WAC 173-220-050(2), (5) (individual); WAC 173-226-130(3)(d), 173-226-170 (general).

ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology, 91 Wn.2d 682, 586 P.2d 1155 (1978) does not hold otherwise. *See* Opinion at 17. That 46-year-old case involved an individual permit issued just two years after the CWA was enacted and while EPA was promulgating new effluent guidelines. *ITT Rayonier*, 91 Wn.2d at 683-85. Ecology and the permittee negotiated an "unusual" footnote stating that the permit would be modified to be consistent with the EPA guidelines once they were issued. *Id.* at 684-85, 693. This Court determined that the footnote was ambiguous and that, consistent with interpretation of contracts, the intent of both the agency and permittee was relevant to its interpretation. *Id.* at 686-87.

The *ITT Rayonier* court rested its eventual decision in favor of the permittee on its conclusion that EPA's failure to meet the timetables for guideline issuance excused the permittee from the permit's compliance schedule because the permittee (just like the ISGP permittees) needed "to know what the final standards are before it commits millions of dollars to plant design and construction to meet them." *Id.* at 691, 693-94. *ITT Rayonier* does not stand for the proposition that general permits should be interpreted like regulations, or that interpretation of an ambiguous general permit should be based solely on Ecology's statements of subjective intent.

Whether a general permit is interpreted as a contract or a regulation only makes a difference if the language of the permit is ambiguous. Opinion at 15. Under contract law principles, if the permit's language is ambiguous, the court may turn to extrinsic evidence to interpret its terms, including evidence

evincing the permitting authority's interpretation of the permit. L.A. County, 725 F.3d at 1205, 1207. But a court does not defer to a state permitting agency's interpretation, particularly concerning its interpretation of federal laws. *Id.* at 1208. To the contrary, "[t]he subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005).

The Court of Appeals nevertheless concluded that the permit should be treated as a regulation and "great weight" given to Ecology's subjective claim of the permit's scope. But an agency's interpretation of a regulation is not entitled to deference unless the agency shows its interpretation was "adopted and applied . . . as a matter of agency policy." *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 815, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). *See also Sleasman v. City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 646, 151 P.3d 990 (2007) (an agency cannot merely "bootstrap a legal argument into the place of agency

interpretation"). Here, Ecology cannot point to any clearly articulated official agency policy supporting its interpretation of the ISGP. In reflexively giving "great weight" to Ecology's argument, Opinion at 25, the Court of Appeals acted contrary to *Cowiche Canyon* and *Sleasman*.

Rather than interpreting the ISGP like a contract and looking at the totality of extrinsic evidence, the Court of Appeals relied only upon statements over the past 10 years as evidencing Ecology's purported intent to expand the permit's scope of coverage in 2009. See Opinion at 8-9, 23-24. These include a FAQ document (which by law cannot amend a permit's terms) and a private *post hoc* letter. *Id*. In doing so, the court ignored abundant evidence that after issuing the 2010 ISGP, Ecology explained *in writing* that it was regulating only those portions of transportation facilities identified by EPA as engaged in industrial activity (CP 3211) (adopting EPA's "only those portions" language) and identified no change to Table 1 relevant to transportation facilities in the Fact Sheets that are

required by law to identify significant changes. *See*, *e.g.*, 3571-73, 1041-48 (no reference to expansion in coverage in 2010 or 2020 Fact Sheets); CP 1814, 1840 (no reference in summaries of major changes). Ecology's last change to Table 1 relative to transportation facilities made Table 1 "consistent with . . . 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii)." *Copper Dev. Assoc., Inc. v. State of Washington*, PCHB Nos. 09-135 through 09-141, Order on Summ. J., 2011 WL 62915, *4 (Jan. 5, 2011).

The Court of Appeals opinion would have a widespread impact upon every holder of a general permit statewide. General permits include, among others, boatyards, bridge and ferry terminals, concentrated animal feeding operations, construction stormwater, fresh fruit packers, municipal stormwater, and wastewater treatment plants.⁴ General permits thus apply across varied industries, all critical to Washington's

⁴ See Ecology website at <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Water-Shorelines/Water-quality/Water-quality-permits/Water-Quality-general-permits</u> (last visited April 17, 2024).

economy, and with each reissuance, are subject to interpretation and appeal. Under the court's decision, any interpretation of ambiguous language in a general permit will require that a court give reflexive deference to Ecology's post-hoc interpretation, regardless of the language used and regardless of all available extrinsic evidence.

General permit permittees need certainty. In many cases, they must plan years ahead to design, install, and finance construction. Rather than allowing permittees to rely on the language of their permit, the court's opinion effectively requires that each permittee sift through years – in this case 10 years – worth of ancillary documents, some of which could only be obtained through a public records request, to guess at how agency staff might interpret a permit. This encourages Ecology to issue vague general permits, allowing it to shift its "interpretation" of those permits at will or in a disparate caseby-case manner, avoiding regulations requiring clear notice to permittees (and EPA) of a permit's terms. B. <u>The Court of Appeals Interpretation of the Plain</u> Language of the ISGP Conflicts with State Cases and Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Affecting All ISGP Transportation Facility Permittees.

The Court of Appeals, the PCHB, the *APM Terminals* court and all parties to this appeal agree that the ISGP language at issue is unambiguous.⁵ Whether interpreted like a contract or a regulation, the well-established rules of interpretation of unambiguous language determine meaning only from the language employed. *Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P 'ship*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 231, 242 P.3d 1 (2010). Courts give effect to all the contract's provisions. *Nishikawa v. U.S. Eagle High, LLC*, 138 Wn. App. 841, 849, 158 P.3d 1265 (2007). Similarly, when interpreting a regulation, if the plain

⁵ The Court of Appeals mistakenly stated that the *APM Terminals* court found the ISGP ambiguous. Opinion at 23 n. 11. In fact, the *APM Terminals* court held the permit contained "clear, unambiguous language establishing that the ISGP relies on the federal regulations and its 'only those portions' exclusionary definition as applied to transportation facilities." *APM Terminals*, 2020 WL 6445825, at *10.

language is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from
the language alone. D.W. Close Co, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor &
Indus., 143 Wn. App. 118, 126, 177 P.3d 143 (2008).
Importantly, all provisions must be read in harmony and
construed so no portion is rendered meaningless or superfluous.
Segura v. Cabrera, 184 Wn.2d 587, 593, 362 P.3d 1278 (2015).

The Court of Appeals interpretation of the ISGP is inconsistent with these fundamental rules. First, the court rendered meaningless the definition's two separate express references to 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi), erroneously stating that because the "industrial activities" definition does not specifically state that it is "incorporating by reference" 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i-xi), including its limiting "only those portions" language, the entire regulation must somehow be read out of the definition. Opinion at 21-22.

To the contrary, reference and citation to the regulation itself, as occurred here, is legally sufficient: when a contract or regulation references another regulation "the precepts and terms to which reference is made are to be considered and treated as if they were incorporated into and made a part of the referring act, just as completely as if they had been explicitly written therein." *Knowles v. Holly*, 82 Wn.2d 694, 700-01, 513 P.2d 18 (1973).

The court's interpretation also creates internal conflict within the industrial activity definition. Under the court's reading of the definition there would be no reason to incorporate EPA's definition in the first sentence or explain its format in the last sentence. The definition's last sentence clarifies that the difference between Table 1 and the federal regulation is a question of "format," not substance.

Finally, the court focused on the second phrase of the "industrial activity" definition in isolation. It concluding that the phrase—"any *facility* conducting any activities described in Table 1"—expands the permit scope to reach "the entire footprint of a transportation facility" because it uses the term "facility," and that ISGP definition of "facility" includes the

phrase "land and appurtenances." Opinion at 20-21. The ISGP definition of "facility", however, is wholly circular, because it states that a facility is an establishment "subject to regulation under this permit" and cites to Condition S1. Condition S1 then directs the reader back to the definition of "industrial activities", with its two express references to 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i)-(xi).

The purpose of the second phrase—"any *facility* conducting any activities described in Table 1"—is not to regulate non-industrial areas that are separate from industrial areas. Its purpose is to include as industrial activity certain specific activity codes, like Marine Construction (CP 68), not identified in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(i)-(xi). This does not regulate the "entire footprint" of transportation facilities.

Moreover, the ISGP's "facility" definition is identical to that of EPA's regulation, which includes precisely the same "land and appurtenances" language. 40 C.F.R. 122.2. The use of the term "facility" thus does not expand the permit's scope beyond the federal regulation.

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