NO. 102981-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondent,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent,

and

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY, et al.

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Ronald L. Lavigne, WSBA #18550 Senior Counsel Julian H. Beattie, WSBA #45586 Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-6770

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Correct

1. The permit plainly applies to all areas of industrial activity at transportation facilities

Ecology deliberately omitted EPA's "only those portions" language in versions of the Industrial Stormwater General Permit issued in 2010, 2015, and 2020. As a result, the permit has applied to all areas of industrial activity at transportation facilities for more than a decade.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the permit's plain language compels this conclusion. *Puget Soundkeeper All.*, 545 P.3d at 344–46. The permit applies to "any facility conducting any activities described in Table 1." CP 120. "Facility" includes the "land or appurtenances"—i.e., the entire footprint of industrial transportation facilities. *Id.* Although federal law limits permit coverage for "only those portions" of the facility where vehicle maintenance, equipment cleaning, or airport deicing operations occur, Ecology's permit does not contain this limitation.

2. The permit's plain text controls regardless of whether the permit is treated as a contract or as a regulation

The plain language of a water quality permit controls.

A court cannot insert language into a permit to manufacture a

result. That is true whether the permit is treated as a contract or as a regulation.

If the court examines the permit using contract interpretation principles, the court will follow the "objective manifestation theory of contracts." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). Under this theory, the "subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used." *Id.* at 504 (citing *City of Everett v. Estate of Sumstad*, 95 Wn.2d 853, 855, 631 P.2d 366 (1981)). The court interprets not "what was intended to be written but what was written." *Id.*

Interpreting a regulation is essentially the same exercise. "When interpreting agency regulations, we apply the same principles used to construe statutes." *Puget Soundkeeper All. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 191 Wn.2d 631, 644, 424 P.3d 1173 (2018). If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, the court gives effect to that meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *State v.* *Valdiglesias LaValle*, 2 Wn.3d 310, 317–18, 535 P.3d 856 (2023). A regulation is not ambiguous merely because another interpretation is possible. *Id.* at 318.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that, under the plain language of Ecology's Industrial Stormwater General Permit, the permit applies to all areas of industrial activity at transportation facilities. The court properly refused to insert the "only those portions" language that Ecology deliberately omitted. The Court of Appeals thus gave effect to the "actual words used." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc.*, 154 Wn.2d at 504. Because the permit is unambiguous, it does not matter whether the permit is treated as a contract or as a regulation. The Court of Appeals' distinction between these two modes of interpretation does not warrant review.

The Court of Appeals explained that Ecology's interpretation would be entitled to deference *if* the permit were ambiguous. *Puget Soundkeeper All.*, 545 P.3d at 346–47. This conclusion did not impact the Court's holding. Because

Ecology's permit is unambiguous, Ecology received no deference. The Court of Appeals instead held, "[W]here the terms of an NPDES permit, whether an individual permit or general permit, are unambiguous, the plain language of the permit controls." *Id.* at 343.

Petitioners fail to identify a conflict between the Court of Appeals' holding—that unambiguous language must be given full effect—and this Court's decisions or other published decisions from the Court of Appeals.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Presents No Issue of Substantial Public Importance

1. Because the permit is unambiguous, the Court of Appeals' distinction between contract interpretation and interpretation of regulations is inconsequential

The Court of Appeals decision aligns with Ecology's longstanding position that the Industrial Stormwater General Permit regulates industrial activity at transportation facilities more stringently than federal law requires. This conclusion should not have come as a surprise to Petitioners. Ecology's permit has applied to all areas of industrial activity at transportation facilities since 2010, and there are material, textual differences between the permit and federal law.

Petitioners acknowledge that the distinction between interpretation of contracts and interpretation of regulations "only makes a difference if the language of the permit is ambiguous." Petition at 19. Here, the Court of Appeals held that the 2020 permit is unambiguous. *Puget Soundkeepr All.*, 545 P.3d at 345 (holding "it is plain" that the permit applies beyond the discrete areas identified in EPA's regulation).

Petitioners incorrectly argue that the Court of Appeals deferred to Ecology. Petition at 20. Because the permit is unambiguous, the Court decided that deference was unnecessary. The Court of Appeals said it would defer to Ecology only if it decided that the permit was ambiguous. *Puget Soundkeeper All.*, 545 P.3d at 346.

2. Petitioners overstate the impact of the Court of Appeals decision

The Court of Appeals held that the 2020 Industrial Stormwater General Permit unambiguously applies to all areas of transportation facilities where industrial activity occurs. This holding only applies to the 2020 permit, which will expire at the end of this year. CP 59.

Petitioners argue that this holding requires courts to "give reflexive deference to Ecology's post-hoc interpretation" of permit conditions. Petition at 23. Actually, the Court of Appeals held that unambiguous permit terms must be given effect. The Court did not defer to Ecology's interpretation.

Given the lack of ambiguity, the Court of Appeals' distinction between interpretation of contracts and interpretation of regulations was ultimately inconsequential. That makes this case a poor vehicle to test the distinction's practical implications—if any—for future Ecology permits.

Petitioners also argue that the decision "encourages Ecology to issue vague general permits." *Id.* This argument is

illogical. Ecology has no interest in unnecessary litigation and no incentive to issue vague permits.

Finally, Petitioners argue that the decision creates uncertainty. *Id.* Actually, the decision aligns with Ecology's longstanding position. Ecology's permit has regulated all areas of industrial activity since 2010.

Ecology acknowledges that stormwater management technologies can be costly and can take time to design and build. *See, e.g.,* CP 1597 (Ecology's response to comment regarding compliance costs); CP 2115 (Petitioner Northwest Seaport Alliance's estimate of compliance costs). Ecology has chosen to regulate industrial transportation facilities rigorously to ensure attainment of state water quality standards. Under state law, Ecology must "exercise its powers, as fully and as effectively as possible, to retain and secure high quality for all waters of the state." RCW 90.48.010. Petitioners have had ample time to conform their practices to Ecology's regulatory position, which Ecology has maintained since 2010. The 2020 Industrial Stormwater General Permit will expire at the end of 2024. Ecology is currently drafting a replacement permit. If Petitioners have concerns about the cost of implementing the draft permit, or if they contend that certain provisions in the draft permit are unclear, they can submit public comments to Ecology. For instance, Petitioners can request clarity regarding the distinction between the Industrial Stormwater General Permit and the Phase I Municipal Stormwater Permit. *See* Petition at 29–30 (arguing that the Court of Appeals decision creates ambiguity for areas of facilities potentially covered by both permits).

Ecology will respond to all relevant comments and will make appropriate changes or clarifying edits before finalizing the permit. After Ecology issues the permit, Petitioners can request technical assistance regarding implementation or enforcement of particular permit provisions.

V. CONCLUSION

Since 2010, Ecology has regulated stormwater pollution at industrial transportation facilities more stringently than federal law in order to protect the State's water quality. The Court of Appeals gave effect to the permit's plain language and correctly declined to insert limiting language that Ecology deliberately omitted. Petitioners do not meet any of the criteria set by RAP 13.4(b). The Supreme Court should deny review.

This document contains 2,908 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 15th day of May 2024.

> ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

<u>s/ Ronald L. Lavigne</u> RONALD L. LAVIGNE, WSBA #18550 Senior Counsel JULIAN H. BEATTIE, WSBA #45586 Assistant Attorney General *ronald.lavigne@atg.wa.gov julian.beattie@atg.wa.gov* 360-586-6770 *Attorneys for Department of Ecology*